IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-KA-00171-COA

DEWAYNE LADALE TUGLE

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

George T. Holmes, MSB North MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-KA-00171-COA

DEWAYNE LADALE TUGLE

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- ISSUE NO. 1: WAS IT ERROR TO REFUSE AN IDENTIFICATION EVIDENCE INSTRUCTION?
- ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER APPELLANT WAS PREJUDICED BY LATE DISCOVERY?
- ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE CONVICTIONS FOR ATTEMPTED ARMED ROBBERY (COUNT 1) AND BEING A FELON IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM (COUNT 3) ARE SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE?
- ISSUE NO. 4: WHETHER THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT FOR A FELONY CONVICTION FOR RECKLESS FLIGHT FROM LAW ENFORCEMENT UNDER COUNT 4?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Coahoma County, Mississippi where Dewayne L. Tugle was convicted of attempted armed robbery, being a felon in possession of a firearm, and reckless flight from law enforcement in a motor vehicle. A jury trial was conducted August 17-20 2009, with Honorable Kenneth L. Thomas, Circuit Judge, presiding. Tugle was sentenced to twenty-four (24) years imprisonment for the attempted armed robbery, eight (8) years for the felon in possession and five (5) years on the reckless flight conviction, all to be served consecutively. Tugle is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

According to the testimony, on October 24, 2007, around 11:00 a.m., someone tried to barge into the back door of the home of William and Carolyn Garret on Hopson Pixley Road, just south of Clarksdale, while they were inside. [T.131-33] Mr. Garret was able to keep the intruder from actually entering the house. [T. 185].

Immediately prior to the incident, Ms. Garret's sister, Bonnie Brassel, had just arrived at the Garret's and exited her vehicle in the driveway and approached the Garret's back door. [T. 131-34, 183-84, 277-78]. As she turned to enter the carport, she said she was approached by a balding black man with a beard brandishing a pistol, wearing a light colored sweatshirt. [T. 133, 168, 72-73]. Ms. Brassel ran towards the opposite end of the house. [T. 134].

Having seen Ms. Brassel drive up, Mr. Garret opened the door only to see his sister-in-law startled and in a frightened state. [T. 277-79]. Mr. Garret thought a dog scared her, but said he then saw the man in the carport at the bottom of the steps now pointing the pistol at him and demanding money. [*Id.*, T. 284]. Mr. Garret said he jumped back inside and braced himself against the door while the man tried to gain entry, but failed as Mr. Garret was able to engage the dead-bolt lock. [T. 278].

Mrs. Garret who was nearby in the house heard the commotion and came to the kitchen, while Mr. Garret looked for a gun. [T. 184-86, 188]. Mrs. Garret said she looked out of a window and saw the man looking in, then saw him skedaddle. *Id.* Both

Mr. And Mrs. Garret, as well as Ms. Brassel, testified they watched a brown pickup truck drive off before calling authorities. [T. 169-70, 188-89, 279].

A responding Coahoma Sheriff's investigator, in an unmarked car, said he spotted a brown pick up truck on the way to the Garret's house traveling in the opposite direction. [T. 208-12]. The truck failed to come to a complete stop at a stop sign and the driver looked back at the investigator as they passed each other. [T. 210-12].

The sheriff's investigator turned around and followed the truck and turned on his dash board blue law enforcement light; but the pick-up truck did not stop. [T. 213-16, 218]. Rather, the investigator said the truck drove away and eventually ran into parked vehicle. *Id.*

The occupant of the truck, Dewayne Tugle, reportedly made a short dash, but was captured. [T. 216, 220, 267-69]. A pistol and carrying case were recovered nearby in different locations from the ground. [T. 220, 228-29; Exs. S-5, S-8]. A sweatshirt was recovered from the back of the brown pick-up. [T. 224-25; Ex. S-2].

Tugle offered the testimony of the lady who owned the car he ran into. [T. 307-11]. She said that Tugle had on different clothing than that described by the investigator and the Garret's. *Id.* She also said she watched Tugle exit his truck and did not see a gun or anything in his hands. *Id.*

Tugle testified that he was not at the Garret's house. [T. 335]. He did not see any blue lights behind him. [T. 337]. Tugle said he did not know his uncle's pistol was in the

truck. [T. 340, 344]. Tugle testified that he ran away because he was dazed and afraid of encountering the lady who owned the car into which he crashed. [T. 341, 366-56].

The jury returned guilty verdicts, as charged, in Counts 1, 3 and 4, convicting Tugle of attempted armed robbery of Mr. Garret, of being a felon in possession of a firearm, after the defense stipulated to Tugle's prior conviction, and of reckless flight from law enforcement in a motor vehicle. The trial court had granted a directed verdict under Count 2, being an attempted armed robbery charge of Mrs. Garret, since she was in another room when the intruder tried to come in the house. [T. 304-05].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Tugle's jury was not properly instructed on identification evidence. There was a prejudicial discovery violation. The evidence was insufficient to present the flight offense and the weight of evidence does not support any of the three convictions.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WAS IT ERROR TO REFUSE AN IDENTIFICATION EVIDENCE INSTRUCTION?

The trial court initially intended to give the jury an instruction on identification evidence and Tugle offered one as well, D-2, a standard instruction regarding identification evidence as authorized in *Davis v. State*, 568 So. 2d 277 (Miss. 1990) *and Warren v. State*, 709 So. 2d 415 (Miss. 1998). [R. 84-85; R. E. 13; T. 373-77, 383-85].

However, the learned trial court reluctantly refused the instruction in response to the state's argument that since there was, arguably, more than one eye witness, the instruction was not proper. [T. 373-77, 383-85]. See *Grayer v. State*, 928 So. 2d 905 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

Tugle's position is that the trial court erred in its withdrawal of the court's identification instruction and in the refusal of D-2. The argument that the instruction might not be required because there was possibly more than one eye-witness is not valid under the testimony of this case. The trial court even recognized that under the facts of this case, denial of the instruction was rather "harsh." [T. 384].

Both of the Garret's and Ms. Brassel had all failed to make an identifications on prior occasions. [T. 193, 243]. First, just after the incident, all failed to pick Tugle out of a photo line-up. *Id.* In fact, Mr. Garret identified another person. [T. 254, 265, 282-84, 287-88]. Secondly, at Tugle's first trial, which ended in a hung jury, Ms. Brassel did not identify Tugle at all. [T. 141-64, 166-67, 178-79; Ex. D-1].

Based on these facts, it is just as likely that there were no eye-witnesses. For the trial court to have assessed more than one an eye-witness required a finding of fact which was strictly the province of the jury. The same principle would apply on appeal, an appellate court would be without authority, under the fact of this case, to qualify someone who failed to identify the accused on a prior occasion as an eye witness for purposes of deciding whether an identification instruction should have been given.

It has long been established that "the jury is the judge of the weight and credibility of testimony and is free to accept or reject all or some of the testimony given by each witness." *Meshell v. State*, 506 So. 2d 989, 991 (Miss. 1987). "The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory and sincerity." *Noe v. State*, 616 So. 2d 298, 303 (Miss. 1993).

In *Davis v. State*, 568 So. 2d 277, 280-81 (Miss. 1990), the supreme court ruled that it was error to refuse essentially the same instruction offered by Tugle. However, the *Davis* court found the error harmless there. *Id.* In *Warren v. State*, 709 So. 2d 415, 421 (¶28) (Miss. 1998), the Court found that trial court's refusal of a jury instruction on the law of identification was reversible error in adherence to *Davis, supra. Id.*

The trial court here in Tugle's case made its ruling under the rational set out in *Francis v. State*, 791 So. 2d 904, 908-09 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) and *Thomas v. State*, 766 So. 2d 809, 811 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

In *Francis*, the Court of Appeals ruled that, because the identification of the defendant was not based solely on the testimony of one eyewitness the trial court was not required to give an identification instruction. *Francis*, 791 So. 2d at 908. The other evidence in *Francis* was that the defendant gave a statement disclosing to police the location of a gun used in a robbery.

In Thomas, the Court of Appeals noted that Warren, supra, holds that failure to

give a requested identification instruction is reversible error if the identification of the accused is based entirely on the testimony of a single witness. *Thomas*, 766 So. 2d 811.

The *Thomas* court found that the one eye witness there was not the only evidentiary which supported the identification of Thomas. Thomas was near the location of a stolen vehicle and he fled from law enforcement. *Id.* So, it was not error to refuse the identification instruction. *Id.*

The present facts are distinguishable from *Francis* and *Thomas*. As stated before, it is indeterminable whether Tugle's convictions are based on the testimony of one witness or more. More importantly, there is no other independent basis for Tugle's convictions. Tugle was not found near the crime seen, and even though his pick-up truck was similar to that described by the witnesses, the descriptions varied to the point that such evidence could not be said to be an independent basis for the verdicts. [T. 169-70, 250; Ex. S-1a].

So, under the facts of this case, because of the lack of prior identification by any of the state's witnesses, and with a lack of other independent basis for the jury to deliberate the identification of the perpetrator of the attempted robbery of the Garrets, the trial court erred in ruling that the state's case was based on more than one eye-witness. It follows that Mr. Tugle is entitled to a new trial, which is respectfully requested.

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER APPELLANT WAS PREJUDICED BY LATE DISCOVERY?

Just after the incident, Bonnie Brassel, Mrs. Garret's sister, was shown a photo line up which included a picture of Dewayne Tugle. [T. 137-67, 173-74, 176, 178-79; Ex. D-1]. She failed to identify Tugle. [T. 141-64, 166-67, 178-79; Ex. D-1]. At Tugle's first trial, Ms. Brassel was never asked to identify Tugle. *Id.* Over objection, the trial court allowed Ms. Brassel to now say that she recognized Tugle. *Id.*

Tugle's trial counsel claimed surprise and a discovery violation because he did not know the witness was there to identify Tugle having twice previously failed to do so. [T. 137-40, 141-66]. The prosecutor said that he had verbally advised counsel of Ms. Brassel's "refreshed" memory, but this was not acknowledged by defense counsel and there was definitely nothing in writing provided. *Id*.

Pre-trial discovery is required "to avoid ambush or unfair surprise to either party at trial." *Blanton v. State*, 727 So. 2d 748, 752 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). See also *Frierson v. State*, 606 So. 2d 604, 607 (Miss. 1992). Rule 9.04 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules proscribes that the disclosure of the state's evidence and witnesses in chief.

Tugle respectfully suggests that his case is akin to the facts in *Box v. State*, 437 So. 2d 19, 20 (Miss. 1983), where the defendant was charged with armed robbery, and the State failed to disclose the information on the identity of the owner an automobile used to perpetrate the robbery who was to be a state witness, until the evening before trial. *Id.* In the present case, Tugle asserts that the state failed to disclose a witness who could

purportedly identify him as the perpetrator of the attempted robbery at the Garret's home.

In *Box*, the court found the late disclosure deprived the defendant of adequate time to prepare for trial. *Id.* at 21. The *Box* court recognized that "[a] rule which is not enforced is no rule" and reversed. *Id*.

In *Fulks v. State*, 18 So. 3d 803, 805 (Miss. 2009) the State was tardy in disclosure of the content of a witness's testimony which was found to be tantamount to a trial by ambush, because, the defense counsel did not have time investigate or make preparation to deal with the testimony. Citing *Box*, the *Fulks* court reversed because of the prejudice to the defendant; and, the Court is now respectfully requested to, likewise, reverse Mr. Tugle's convictions for the same reasons. *Id*.

ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE CONVICTIONS FOR ATTEMPTED ARMED ROBBERY (COUNT 1) AND BEING A FELON IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM (COUNT 3) ARE SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE?

The standard is that the court on appeal will not reverse under a weight of the evidence challenge unless, accepting as true the evidence supporting the verdict, the record shows that the jury's verdict "is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Herring v. State*, 691 So. 2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). See also, *Boone v. State*, 973 So. 2d 237, 243 (Miss. 2008).

In addition to all of the state's "eye-witnesses" not previously identifying Tugle,

here there is little or no consistency in descriptions of the perpetrator's clothing matching what Tugle was wearing when he exited his vehicle. [T. 212, 257, 311]. No hat was described by the Garrets or Ms. Brassel. The owner of the car that Tugle ran into, disputes the attire described by state witnesses and she saw nothing in Tugle's hands to indicate that he knowingly possessed the firearm found on the ground. [T. 308]. No fingerprints were shown to be on the weapon. [T. 247]. The descriptions of the pick-up truck did not match. [T.169-70, 250].

The investigating officer said he ran a computer check on the registration of the truck, but the print-out of the report was dated the day prior to the incident. [T. 248; Ex. D-2]. The blue law enforcement lights are not clearly visible in the investigators vehicle. [T. 252; Ex. S-7].

In this case the testimony and physical evidence are, at best, unreliable and insufficient to support the conviction, and a reversal with acquittal is called for. See *Edwards v. State*, 736 So. 2d 475 (Miss. 1999), *Hall v. State*, 644 So. 2d 1223, 1228 (Miss. 1994), and *Guilbeau v. State*, 502 So. 2d 639, 641 (Miss. 1987).

ISSUE NO. 4: WHETHER THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT FOR A FELONY CONVICTION FOR RECKLESS FLIGHT FROM LAW ENFORCEMENT UNDER COUNT 4?

Tugle's position is that the trial court should have sustained his motion for directed verdict under Count 4, or granted his motion for JNOV or New Trial. As to the review of the denial of directed verdict, the appellate court should consider the sufficiency of the evidence. *Gleeton v. State*, 716 So. 2d 1083, $1087(\P 14)$ (Miss. 1998). All of the evidence must be construed in the light most favorable to the state. *Id.*

If the facts and inferences therefrom "point in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty," the appellate court must reverse and render. *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843(¶ 16) (Miss. 2005) (citing *Edwards v. State*, 469 So. 2d 68, 70 (Miss. 1985)). If, on the other hand, reasonable jurors could have reached different conclusions on all of the elements of the charged offense, the evidence is deemed sufficient. *Id.* The state should be given the benefit of all "favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence." *Smith v. State*, 839 So. 2d 489, 495(¶ 12) (Miss. 2003).

Failing to respond to a law enforcement officer's signal to stop can result in a misdemeanor or felony under MCA § 97-9-72. (Rev. 2004).¹ There was no showing of an

MCA § 97-9-72. (Rev. 2004) Driver failing to stop motor vehicle pursuant to signal of law enforcement officer; penalty; defenses

⁽¹⁾ The driver of a motor vehicle who is given a visible or audible signal by a law

felony level "extreme indifference" from the evidence in this case.

The testimony was that Tugle failed to come to a complete stop at a stop sign. [T. 212]. The vehicle vaguely matched the description given following the incident at the Garret's house. [T.210-12]. After the sheriff's investigator purportedly turned on the dashboard blue light in his unmarked vehicle, it was stated that merely Tugle did not stop. [T.213-16]. Tugle's speed was estimated to be no higher than 40 mile per hour. [T. 214, 259]. No radar was used. *Id*.

The photographs of the truck once it finally came to a rest do not indicate a high rate of speed. [Ex. S1a]. There was no testimony that Tugle was driving on the wrong side of the road, or ever endangered any pedestrians or other traffic on the right of ways as in *Betts v. State*, 10 So. 3d 519, 524 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) nor *Cole v. State*, 8 So. 3d 250, (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

enforcement officer by hand, voice, emergency light or siren directing the driver to bring his motor vehicle to a stop when such signal is given by a law enforcement officer acting in the lawful performance of duty who has a reasonable suspicion to believe that the driver in question has committed a crime, and who willfully fails to obey such direction shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction shall be punished by a fine not to exceed One Thousand Dollars (\$1, 000.00) or imprisoned in the county jail for a term not to exceed six (6) months, or both.

⁽²⁾ Any person who is guilty of violating subsection (1) of this section by operating a motor vehicle in such a manner as to indicate a reckless or willful disregard for the safety of persons or property, or who so operates a motor vehicle in a manner manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life, shall be guilty of a felony, and upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by a fine not to exceed Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00), or by commitment to the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections for not more than five (5) years, or both.

CONCLUSION

Dewaye Tugle is entitled to have his convictions under all counts reversed, with a new trial for Counts 1 and 3. An acquittal should be rendered under Count 4 or a new granted with the other Counts.