IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DEWAYNE LADALE TUGLE

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-KA-0171-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Tugle was not entitled to an instruction dealing solely with identification evidence. Our case law clearly establishes that when the State proves the defendant's identity through more than the testimony of a single eyewitness, an instruction on identification evidence is properly refused. Additionally, where the trial court grants an instruction which informs the jury that the State is required to prove every element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt, which was granted in the present case, a separate identification instruction is not warranted.

Tugle fails to show how we was prejudiced by the allegedly late discovery. Even if the State committed a discovery violation, the trial court properly followed Uniform County and Circuit Court Rule 9.04(I) to cure the alleged violation.

The jury's verdicts of guilty of armed robbery and felon in possession of a firearm not against the weight of the evidence. Tugle asks this Court on appeal to re-weigh the evidence presented and to discount the testimony of the State's eyewitnesses. However, the determination of witness credibility and the duty to resolve conflicts in the evidence lies within the sole province of the jury.

The State proved each and every element of felony fleeing beyond a reasonable doubt. Tugle's assertion to the contrary comes from a misunderstanding of the elements of the crime found in Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-9-72.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TUGLE'S INSTRUCTION REGARDING IDENTIFICATION EVIDENCE.

When considering jury instruction issues, reviewing courts examine jury instructions as a whole with no one instruction taken out of context. *Wallace v. State*, 10 So.3d 913, 916 (¶9) (Miss. 2009). A criminal defendant is entitled to jury instructions which present his theory of the case. *Id.* However, this entitlement is limited by the trial court's ability to refuse instructions which incorrectly state the law, are without foundation in the evidence, or which are fairly covered by other granted jury instructions. *Id.* Tugle's claim that the trial court erred in granting an identification instruction fails for two reasons: there were two eyewitnesses to the armed robbery, and the instructions when read as a whole placed the issue of identification squarely before the jury.

This honorable Court has held that an identification instruction is not required unless the defendant's identification was based solely upon the testimony of a single witness. *Powell v. State*, 925 So.2d 878, 884 (¶20) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); *Francis v. State*, 791 So.2d 904, 908-09 (¶12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001); *Thomas v. State*, 766 So.2d 809, 811 (¶8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). Both Bonnie Brassell and Williams Garrett positively identified Tugle at trial as the man they saw commit armed robbery at the Garrett residence. Because Tugle's identification was not proven by a single eyewitness, the trial court did not err in refusing his identification instruction.

Tugle claims that although Bonnie and William positively identified him at trial but were unable to pick him out of a photo lineup, "it is just as likely that there were no eye-witnesses." Appellant's brief at 5. However, our reviewing courts have held that the failure of an eyewitness to identify the defendant pretrial, or even a pretrial misidentification, does not effect the admissibility of an in-court identification. *Wilson v. State*, 574 So.2d 1324, 132-27 (Miss.1990) (citing *Magee*

v. State, 542 So.2d 228, 232-33 (Miss. 1989)). Rather, any inconsistencies in identification go toward the weight and credibility of the evidence, which is assessed solely by the jury. Id.; Coleman v. State, 841 So.2d 1170, 1174 (¶18) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003); Kimbrough v. State, 379 So.2d 934, 936 (Miss. 1980). Bonnie explained at trial that she was unable to make a pretrial identification because she did not have her glasses when presented with the photographic lineup, and the pictures seemed blurry to her. T. 167. However, once she saw Tugle in person at a previous trial, she was certain that he was the man who pointed a gun at her and attempted to rob the Garretts. T. 165, 167. William Garrett also positively identified Tugle at trial as the man who aimed a gun at his face and attempted to force his way into the Garrett home. T. 283. William had in fact picked another individual from the photographic lineup. Williams stated at trial, "I was instructed to select the man who pointed the gun at me to the best of my ability." T. 282. He further explained that Tugle had a beard at the time of the incident, but that his photograph in the lineup was not clear and showed no beard. T. 284. The individual William picked from the lineup was a black male with a bald head and a beard. Exhibit D-1. The supreme court in Wilson stated the following.

The initial misidentification on the part of these eyewitnesses to a crime did not completely destroy the value of their testimony or render it inadmissible. The jury was fully advised of the original mistake and had it as well as the subsequent testimony identifying appellant before them to weigh. The weight to be given this evidence was for the jury to determine.

Wilson, 574 So.2d at 1327 (quoting U.S. v. O'Neal, 496 F.2d 368, 372 (6th Cir.1974)). Both Bonnie and William explained the reason for the discrepancies between the pretrial identification, or lack thereof, and the in-court identification. The discrepancies do not change the fact that they were eyewitnesses to the crimes charged. Under the authority of *Powell*, *Francis*, and *Thomas*, because the State's case did not rest upon the identification of a single witness, the trial court did not err in refusing Tugle's identification instruction.

A second and equally compelling justification for the trial court's denial of an identification instruction exists. Where the jury is instructed that the State must prove each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt, the issue of misidentification is placed squarely before the jury, thereby rendering a separate instruction dealing solely with identification unnecessary. *Smith v. State*, 802 So.2d 82, 88 (¶20) (Miss. 2001) (citing *Robinson v. State*, 473 So.2d 957, 963 (Miss. 1985)). See also *Brunner v. State*, No. 2008-KA-00469-COA (Miss. Ct. App. Nov. 3, 2009) (rehearing denied); *Coleman v. State*, 841 So.2d 1170, 1174 (¶14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). Instruction C-15 informed the jury that the State has the burden of proving each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. C.P. 75. Instruction S-1 informed the jury that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Dewayne Ladale Tugle committed each element of the crime charged, spelling out each element of the crimes charged. C.P. 78-79. Under the authority of *Smith*, the granting of instructions C-15 and S-1 placed the identification issue before the jury, and a separate identification instruction was properly refused.

For the foregoing reasons, Tugle was not entitled to a jury instruction dealing solely with the issue of identification.

II. TUGLE FAILS TO SHOW PREJUDICE DUE TO ALLEGEDLY LATE DISCOVERY.

Bonnie was asked on direct if the man who pointed a gun at her and who attempted to rob the Garretts was present in the courtroom. T. 136. Defense counsel objected, and a bench conference ensued outside the hearing of the jury. T. 137. Defense counsel claimed that he had received nothing in discovery which indicated that Bonnie could identify Tugle. The prosecutor advised the court that he notified defense counsel verbally after the first trial that both Bonnie and William were able to positively identify Tugle after seeing him in person. T. 137-139. The trial court found that the evidence was not timely discovered and initially ruled that Bonnie's in-court identification of Tugle would be excluded. T. 140-141. Defense counsel then indicated that if he were able to view the transcript of the previous trial, the alleged discovery violation may be cured. T. 141. The trial court then decided to continue the case so that defense counsel could review Bonnie's prior testimony. T. 146. The trial court recessed on the afternoon of August 17, and the proceedings resumed on the morning of the 19th. T. 149. Defense counsel had examined Bonnie's prior testimony, restated its objection to her in-court identification of Tugle claiming that it would result in misidentification. T. 150. The trial court then asked defense counsel the following.

What if the prosecuting attorney had told you six weeks ago that Miss Brassel would be identifying this defendant? What if she had said that coming up to the initial trial, there would not be a discovery violation, so in view of your having been informed this past Monday, two days ago, it was a discovery violation as of that moment, but now that we have recessed the matter for two days, how does it continue to be a discovery violation?

T. 152. Defense counsel responded that he was no longer arguing a discovery violation, but instead arguing that the witnesses should not be able to make in-court identifications of Tugle since they were unable to identify him pre-trial. T. 152-153. The trial court ultimately ruled that the continuance cured the untimely discovery, and that defense counsel's concerns of misidentification

could be addressed through rigorous cross-examination. T. 152, 160, 162.

On appeal Tugle claims that his conviction should be reversed due to untimely discovery. Presuming that the trial court found that defense counsel was informed for the first time during trial that Bonnie could identify Tugle as the armed robber, the trial court complied with Uniform County and Circuit Court Rule 9.04(I) by granting a continuance. Under the rule, if during trial the court is made aware of a party's failure to comply with an applicable discovery rule, the court has the discretion to allow such evidence to be presented at trial, to grant a continuance, or to enter such an order as it deems just under the circumstances. URCCCP 9.04(I).

The supreme court has held that in some instances where a defendant is entitled to a continuance due to a discovery violation, "postponement of a day or two, or in some cases even an hour or two, will suffice." *Adams v. State*, 772 So.2d 1010, 1013 (¶11) (Miss. 2000). In *West v. State*, this Court found that twenty-five minutes was a reasonable amount of time for defense counsel to review undiscovered evidence which the State produced on the day of trial. 969 So.2d 147, 150 (¶13) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). In the case *sub judice*, defense counsel had much longer than twenty-five minutes to review the recently discovered evidence. The trial court recessed early Monday and resumed trial on Wednesday morning, giving defense counsel ample time to respond to the alleged untimely discovered evidence. As such, the trial court properly followed the mandate of URCCCP 9.04(f), and the court's decision should be affirmed.

Additionally, "where a discovery violation results in the admission of evidence that is merely cumulative, the error is harmless." *O'Neal v. State*, 977 So.2d 1252, 1255 (¶13) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Williams also identified Tugle as the armed robber, so Bonnie's identification of Tugle was cumulative. So in addition to the trial court correctly following URCCCP 9.04(I), any error which could have occurred was harmless. Tugle also fails to show how we was prejudiced by the allegedly

late discovery.

For the foregoing reasons, Tugle's second assignment of error must fail.

III. TUGLE'S CONVICTIONS FOR ARMED ROBBERY AND FELON IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM ARE SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

When reviewing a claim that a conviction is against the weight of the evidence, a reviewing court will not disturb the verdict unless allowing it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005). In raising claims that the verdict is against the weight of the evidence, appellant's most often attack witness credibility and draw the Court's attention to conflicts in the evidence. However, the determination of witness credibility lies within the sole province of the jury. *Moore v. State*, 969 So.2d 153, 156 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Also, the jury is solely responsible for resolving any conflicts in witness testimony which may arise. *Id*.

In addition to a positive identification by two eyewitnesses, other credible evidence supports the jury's verdicts. Bonnie, Caroline, and William testified that the Tugle wore a light colored sweatshirt during the armed robbery. T. 133, 187, 280. A light colored sweatshirt was found in Tugle's truck after he fled on foot. T. 224. William also positively identified the gun recovered from Tugle's truck as the gun that was stuck in his face during the armed robbery. T. 280. Additionally, Tugle fled from Officer Magsby, which shows consciousness of guilt. Tugle testified on his own behalf to a pretty unlikely story. Tugle claimed that Officer Magsby did not have his blue lights or siren activated. T. 337. His story was that a patrol car behind Magsby had its blue lights on, and Tugle believed that that patrol car was attempting to pull over Magsby. T. 338. Tugle claimed that he fled on foot after the crash because he was scared and dazed. T. 341-42. He also claimed that he took off his shirt and used it to put pressure on his head because it was bleeding due an injury from the crash. T. 343. However, the State produced the t-shirt on rebuttal, and the shirt had no blood on it. T. 365.

Again, the jury is solely responsible for judging witness credibility and resolving conflicts in the evidence. It is not the function of the reviewing court to determine whose testimony to believe. *Smith v. State*, 945 So.2d 414, 421 (¶21) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing Taylor v. State, 744 So.2d 306, 312 (¶17) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). So long as substantial credible evidence supports the jury's verdict, the verdict must be affirmed. *Id.* Eyewitness and other physical evidence supports the jury's verdict. The verdict is not against the weight of the evidence.

IV. THE STATE PRESENTED LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S VERDICT OF GUILTY OF FELONY FLEEING.

In determining whether the State presented legally sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict, the reviewing court must determine whether, when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational juror could have found that the State proved each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (¶16) (Miss. 2005). Additionally, under this inquiry, "all evidence supporting the guilty verdict is accepted as true, and the State must be given the benefit of all reasonable inferences that can be reasonably drawn from the evidence." *Wash v. State*, 931 So.2d 672, 673 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

To obtain a conviction for felony fleeing, the State was required to prove, and did prove, beyond a reasonable doubt the following: Tugle was driving a motor vehicle; he was given an audible or visible signal to stop; the signal was given by a law enforcement officer acting in lawful performance of his duty; the officer had reasonable suspicion to believe that Tugle had committed a crime; Tugle wilfully failed to stop; and Tugle "operat[ed] a motor vehicle in such a manner as to indicate a reckless or willful disregard for the safety of persons or property, or ... operate[d] a motor vehicle in a manner manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life " Miss. Code Ann. § 97-9-72. Tugle claims that he could not be guilty of felony fleeing because "there was no showing of [a] felony level 'extreme indifference' from the evidence in this case." Appellant's Brief at 11-12. According to the plain language of the statute, the State was not required to prove extreme indifference to the value of human of human life because the State proceeded under the theory that Tugle operated his vehicle in a manner which indicated a reckless or willful disregard for the safety of persons or property.

The State presented the following evidence to prove each element of felony fleeing beyond

a reasonable doubt. The evidence was undisputed that Tugle was driving a motor vehicle. Magsby had better than reasonable suspicion to believe Tugle committed a crime: he personally observed Tugle commit a crime, that is, failing to stop at a stop sign. T. 211, 245. See Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-805. Magsby first activated his blue lights when he got behind Tugle. T. 213. When Tugle sped up, Magsby activated his siren. T. 218. Tugle still refused to pull over, and after speeding up, he lost and regained control of his vehicle twice, nearly running into a utility pole. T. 214. In a continued effort to evade Magsby, Tugle bypassed an intersection by cutting through a parking lot. T. 215. Tugle continued to evade Magsby until Tugle lost control of his vehicle a third time, crashing into a parked vehicle. T. 216. Clearly, Tugle was driving in manner which indicated a reckless or willful disregard for the safety of person or property, as evidence by the fact that his reckless driving caused him lose control of his car numerous times and ultimately damage another's personal property as well as his own.

Viewing the evidence the light most favorable to the verdict, it is clear that the State proved each and every element of felony fleeing beyond a reasonable doubt.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm Tugle's convictions and sentences.